#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### **CASE NO. SC09-496**

### **RAY LAMAR JOHNSTON,**

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### **INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

DAVID DIXON HENDRY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0160016 ASSISTANT CCC CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Ray Lamar Johnston was originally tried and convicted for the first degree murder of Janice Nugent in the year 2000, and was sentenced to death following a narrow 7-5 recommendation for death. At the guilt phase of that trial, the State introduced *Williams* Rule evidence that Mr. Johnston allegedly committed another murder 6 months after the Nugent murder. Following the imposition of a death sentence for the Nugent murder, and a motion from the defense seeking a new trial, the trial court ruled that the State had argued an improper aggravator at the penalty phase, and granted a retrial of the penalty phase in January of 2001. The result of the retrial later in 2001 went from a 7-5 recommendation to an 11- 1 recommendation in favor of death.

Janice Nugent was killed in February of 1997. Ray Lamar Johnston was not indicted for this murder until 1999, actually after his conviction and death sentence in the other murder (the Leanne Coryell murder, Case SC09-780). In the Janice Nugent murder trial held in the year 2000, the State utilized *Williams* Rule evidence that Mr. Johnston had allegedly committed the August 1997 murder of Leanne Coryell. The State's *Williams* Rule application was supported by the wavering and chameleonic opinions of medical examiner Dr. Julia Martin. The decision to allow *Williams* Rule evidence of a subsequent murder into this case, using the testimony that Mr. Johnston allegedly committed another murder six months after the Nugent murder, the State was successful in their endeavor to convict Ray Lamar Johnston of the instant offense.

The second penalty phase in this case was conducted by attorney Harvey Hyman, an attorney with a considerable disciplinary history. (*See Izquierdo v. State*, 724 So. 2d 124 at 126 n.1 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup>DCA 1998), *Lewis v. State*, 711 So. 2d 205 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup>DCA 1998), *State v. Benton*, 662 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup>DCA 1995), and *Fonticoba v. State*, 725 So. 2d 1244 at 1245 n. 1 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup>DCA 1999)).<sup>1</sup> Mr. Hyman was the attorney responsible for persuading the trier of fact to spare Mr. Johnston's life at the retrial of the penalty phase. The second penalty phase of Johnston was Mr. Hyman's first capital case. Mr. Hyman summoned brother Max Allen Johnston to the penalty phase. Max Allen Johnston testified on direct examination that his brother had been through the criminal justice system so many times for violent offenses and took advantage of the "All American Plea Bargain" [Trial Transcript, Dir. ROA Vol. XIX,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In *Izquierdo*, *Id*. at 126, the 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA gave the trial court an option to dismiss the case after remand if Harvey Hyman was still employed as a state attorney:

After remand, the trial court may, in its reviewable discretion, either grant a new trial or dismiss the case outright if it finds that the prosecutorial misconduct, particularly considering the possibility that the office of the State Attorney was itself directly implicated by retaining Hyman after notice of his proclivities, was so pervasive that the defendant was deprived of due process. See *Munoz v. State*, 629 So. 2d 90, 98 (Fla. 1993).

2135] so frequently, that he wondered himself whether Ray's life was worth sparing, and pondered that maybe his brother should just be executed.  $^2$ 

The instant appeal follows the denial of Mr. Johnston's 3.851 Motion to vacate his conviction and death sentence.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

**CLAIM I** – Trial counsel was grossly ineffective at the penalty phase for calling the defendant's brother, Max Allen Johnston, to testify at the penalty phase. A pre-trial investigative memorandum clearly indicated that this witness would not be a favorable witness. Max Allen Johnston actually encouraged the jury to vote for death. Additionally, trial counsel repeatedly and sarcastically belittled the Appellant in front of the jury, made light of mitigation, took an adversarial role against the Appellant, thus further encouraging the jury to vote for death.

**CLAIM II** --Trial counsel was ineffective at the guilt and penalty phases for failing to present critical information to the jury regarding the Appellant's mental state and background. Trial counsel mismanaged the mental health experts, and even failed to call available vital mental health experts at the penalty phase.

**CLAIM III** -- The *Williams* Rule evidence of a prior murder should not have been admissible at the Nugent guilt phase. The medical examiner at the urging of the State in this case knowingly misrepresented crucial facts and opinions regarding the

2

This issue will be discussed in further detail at Claim I.

implement used to inflict wounds on the victim. This is proven through an amended notice of discovery filed by the State prior to trial, a telephone and contact log from Dr. Julia Martin admitted at the evidentiary hearing, her evidentiary hearing testimony and her obvious manufactured, recanted trial testimony on this vital issue.

**CLAIM V--**Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress the pre-trial statements the Appellant made to Detectives Stanton and Noblitt following his first court appearance on the Coryell case. The statements were made to law enforcement the very same day that he signed an invocation of rights form that was introduced at the evidentiary hearing. Although the interrogation concerned a different murder investigation, the interrogation on that murder was imminent as it happened the same day that an invocation of rights form was signed in the Coryell case. The Appellant was in custody and law enforcement disregarded his invocation of rights made just hours prior to the imminent interrogation.

**CLAIM VI**--The Appellant was taking numerous psychotropic medications at the time of trial. Trial counsel should have informed the juries in both the Coryell case and Nugent case that the Appellant was heavily medicated and sedated. A special jury instruction should have accompanied the introduction of the Appellant's confession from the Coryell penalty phase. Trial counsel failed in this regard. This would have softened the blow of the confession as it related to the guilt phase issues in Nugent, and would have provided additional stability and support for the mental

health mitigation in the penalty phase of Nugent. The lower court was wrong to refuse to consider the testimony of pharmacologist Dr. James O'Donnell on this issue.

**CLAIM VII--**The lower court erred in failing to grant even an evidentiary hearing on various claims that required a factual determination. The lower court's orders run contrary to the rules of procedure and case law. As a result, the Appellant was denied due process of law and access to the courts in violation of the Constitution. **CLAIM VIII--**Trial counsel was ineffective at the guilt phase for failure to consult and utilize expert witnesses to refute the forensic evidence presented by the State at trial. For example, the defense should have consulted an expert such as Dr. Simon Cole to refute the fingerprint evidence presented at trial. The lower court's refusal to consider the testimony of Dr. Cole at the evidentiary hearing deprived the Appellant of due process and hindered his ability to present evidence to prove claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

**CLAIM IX--**The grave errors in this case, both individually and cumulatively, lead to the inescapable conclusion that the Appellant should be afforded relief from this unconstitutional conviction and sentence of death.

#### CLAIM I

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING **RELIEF AT THE PENALTY PHASE.** TRIAL **COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR CALLING** MAX ALLEN JOHNSTON TO TESTIFY, AND FOR FAILING TO PREPARE HIM TO TESTIFY, IF THAT WAS EVEN POSSIBLE. TRIAL COUNSEL **REPEATEDLY BELITTLED THE APPELLANT,** LIGHT MITIGATION, MADE OF AND **GENERALLY TOOK AN ADVERSARIAL ROLE** AGAINST THE APPELLANT ALL IN VIOLATION **OF MR. JOHNSTON'S RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS** EQUAL PROTECTION UNDER AND THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AS WELL AS HIS **RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHT AMENDMENTS.** 

Under the principles set forth by this Court in Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028

(Fla. 1999), this claim is a mixed question of law and fact requiring *de novo* review with deference only to the factual findings by the lower court.

Attorney Harvey Hyman's representation in the penalty phase was grossly deficient. Mr. Hyman had never before represented a capital defendant in a penalty phase proceeding. It became abundantly clear at the evidentiary hearing that the time and effort needed to achieve a life sentence was not put into the case. Harvey Hyman was the wrong man for the job. Attorney Gerod Hooper was close to getting a life recommendation in the first penalty phase.<sup>3</sup> Attorney Kenn Littman had been involved

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Gerod Hooper nearly obtained a life sentence for Mr. Johnston, trying the first Nugent penalty phase to a vote of 7-5.

in the two Johnston cases for about 42 months (three and a half years) before a new penalty phase was granted in Nugent. Attorney Harvey Hyman had only three months to prepare for Nugent II.<sup>4</sup> Mr. Hyman knew neither the law as it pertained to capital sentencing, nor the particular facts of the Ray Lamar Johnston cases. Due to the acts of misstating the law, losing credibility with the jury, alienating and belittling his client in front of the jury, taking a sarcastic and adversarial tone against his client in front of the jury, and sponsoring the testimony of perhaps the worst penalty phase witness ever in the history of capital sentencing (brother Max Allen Johnston), Harvey Hyman was the direct cause of the 11-1 vote in favor of death in Nugent II.

This claim has two main components. The first component is Harvey Hyman's failure to read the case file<sup>5</sup> and realize that Max Allen Johnston would be a horrible witness for the penalty phase. The second component is Harvey Hyman's sarcastic belittling of his client and his client's case for life in front of the jury. Regarding the first main component referenced above, Ms. Carolyn Fulgueira was the mitigation specialist for the public defender's office in the Johnston cases. She worked with Ray Lamar Johnston from the beginning when he was arrested for the murder of Leanne

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The second penalty phase in Nugent will be referred to in this brief as Nugent II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>As will be discussed further in this brief, it would have been impossible for Mr. Hyman to even read the voluminous Johnston case files prior to the penalty phase, much less prepare for the penalty phase, due to time constraints.

Coryell August 22, 1997. In preparation for the penalty phase in Coryell, she generated a memorandum dated March 4, 1998 regarding a telephone conversation she had with Ray Lamar Johnston's brother, Max Allen Johnston. The memorandum was admitted as defense exhibit 8 at the evidentiary hearing. *See* PC ROA Vol. X, 1942-1944.<sup>6</sup> The information contained within that memorandum is obviously very damaging to Ray Lamar Johnston; in light of Max Allen Johnston's unsurprising testimony, this memorandum is the postconviction smoking gun for ineffective assistance of counsel. There were actually three penalty phases conducted in the two Johnston cases. Max Allen Johnston was only called in Nugent II by attorney Harvey Hyman, and he was a total disaster, just as the memorandum indicated he would be. Ms. Fulgueira relayed the following at the evidentiary hearing:

Q. So if Harvey Hyman -- And just to give these dates, put it in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In the memorandum located at PC ROA Vol. X, 1942-1944, Max Allen Johnston relayed that his brother was a "sick individual." He informed Ms. Fulgueira that his family could do nothing more for him. He stated that Ray has "never said that he was sorry." He informed: "Life with Ray has been 100% lies, cheating, deception, heinous acts..." As to his feelings on the execution of his brother, he stated: "Not a whole lot of loss if they get rid of him by injection or other means. He serves no purpose on this earth." He stated that he does not really know his brother. With regard to coming to Tampa to testify, he warned: "if [the attorneys are] looking for a kind heart it's not him." He would want to inform the jury that he previously warned the sheriff's office of having Ray loose on the streets. He felt that "Leanne's family should know about the [uncharged] prostitute assault." He said he would only testify if he could inform the jury of this uncharged offense. He said that Ray's life was like a "horror movie full of madness." Ms. Fulgueira informed Max Allen Johnston that she would be reviewing his interview with the attorneys.

perspective, January 22nd, 2001, we have a retrial being granted in the Nugent penalty phase.

A. Okay.

Q. And then we have on April 9th we have the second penalty phase commencing.

A. Okay.

Q. So this is less than 90 days later we have a penalty phase.

. . .

Q. So there is probably going to be approximately 12 banker's boxes involved in these years of litigation?

A. I would think that's a safe estimate.

Q. And you don't know if Harvey Hyman read everything in those 12 boxes approximately?

A. I don't know. I have no idea what he read.

Q. You don't know if Harvey Hyman read that March 14th, 1998, memorandum where you have that discussion with Max Allen Johnston?

A. It's hard for me to answer that. I really don't recall. I don't know.

Q. Do you know how many times he met with Max Allen Johnston or spoke with him by telephone prior to the testimony?

A. I don't know.

Q. If Harvey Hyman did, in fact, make a witness contact with Max Allen Johnston and if, in fact, he entered notation into the Stack system saying he had that witness contact, such documentation or notation could be printed to reflect his witness contacts, could they not?

A. Yes, if they were made.

Q. Now, you testified you have a lot of memorandums there and it seems like whatever significant action happened on the case it was memorialized in these memorandums?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And we have not seen any memorandum whatsoever in this case where in it discusses post January 2001 that Max Allen Johnston had a change of heart of testimony, is that correct?

A. I think so. I haven't seen one, none that's been presented to me. [PC ROA Vol. XXXX, 1278-1281]

Ms. Fulgueira agreed, "Yes. Based on that memo, I would say that the information in

that memo would not be helpful to him." [PC ROA Vol. XXXIV, 544]. Lacking at the

evidentiary hearing was any evidence that Mr. Hyman and Ms. Fulgueira got together to discuss the contents of defense exhibit 8. Lacking is any evidence that Mr. Hyman spoke with or met with Max before he flew down from Tennessee to testify at the penalty phase. Lacking is any evidence that Mr. Hyman read defense exhibit 8. Any reasonable defense attorney acting in the best interests of his client would not call Max Allen Johnston to the penalty phase. The jury recommended death for Ray Lamar Johnston in this case because Ray's brother informed the jury that Ray was a dangerous man with a long, violent criminal record, there was a danger that Ray would kill again, and prior lenient plea bargains had led to future murders. The following trial testimony from Max Allen Johnston, distinctly and explicitly previewed and forewarned in defense exhibit 8, actually encouraged the jury to vote for death:

He's a grown man. I can't shackle him. I can't shoot him. I can't tie him down. I can't catch him while he gets in these neuropsychotic whatever they're going to call it, fits, or whatever you want to call it, but get him some help, guys. You got to get him some help. They didn't do it in Georgia. They didn't do it in Alabama, and you just get-he'll just get out again. It's not right. I wouldn't want it to happen to my wife, my daughter, my mother, my daughter. I wouldn't want it to happen to any of yours. We said, 'please get him some help.' They said twenty thousand dollars. I got my five thousand. It was the last I had. She got hers and my other brother and other brother said, 'Here, get him some help. Don't let him go,' and they plea bargained, all American plea bargain. Unfortunately it cost that girl, her mother, her life. I'm horribly sorry about that.

[Dir. ROA Vol. XIX, 2134-2135]

The above testimony, made by an actual defense witness at Nugent II, asks that

the jury make the defendant fully morally culpable because he is a "grown man," and basically calls for a lynch mob to "shackle," "tie down," "catch" or "shoot" the defendant. It diminishes the psychological mitigation in the case, characterizing the defendant's condition as "neuropsychological fits" or "whatever." It reminds the jury of the defendant's criminal history, tells them that the Appellant is incapable of rehabilitation, and places fear in the jury with the cryptic warning, "He'll just get out again." What jury would not recommend death with that warning from the defendant's brother? He then tells the jury that he would not want his own wife, mother or daughter to be killed by Ray, and would not any of the jury's family members to be killed by Ray. He paints himself as a victim, saying that he spent his last money trying to help the defendant, and that did not work. His money actually contributed to an "All American plea bargain" that cost the girl and mother their lives because Ray was not punished severely enough. The above testimony would have been grounds for mistrial on several different levels if offered by the State, yet it was incredulously provided by an ill-presented defense witness. The witness inflamed the passions of the jurors and inspired them to vote for death at the request of the defendant's own brother. Trial counsel was grossly ineffective for calling this horrible witness to the stand. No reasonable trial attorney would have placed this testimony in front of a jury during a penalty phase *unless* he was encouraging the jury to vote for death. The lower court was wrong to accept this as "strategy." At the very least, trial counsel should have

spent some time preparing this witness to take the stand and admonish him to stay away from this type of testimony. But as the witness warned in 1998, as evidenced by the investigative memorandum (defense exhibit 8), he would not agree to testify unless he could bring up his brother's uncharged attack on a prostitute.

Trying to salvage some positive points with the witness, Mr. Hyman asked if Max Allen Johnston would prefer a life sentence over a death sentence. His answer should shock the conscience of this Court. The uncertain, equivocal answer was forewarned in the 1998 memorandum defense exhibit 8. This is not a question that should have been asked at the penalty phase, especially when it was already indicated in an investigative memorandum that his answer might be "death." Normally, the State would have objected, but because Max Allen Johnston was doing so well for the State, the question went unobjected. Unfortunately for the Appellant, in response, trial counsel received a long answer (3 pages of transcript) instead of a simple short answer of "life" to this simple question that should *not* have been asked of this witness:

Q: Would you prefer the jury recommend a life prison sentence for your brother rather than execute him?

A: I have never been to a trial that he has had. This is the first time that I have walked into a courtroom. I've been appalled at the things he's done. I've said, 'You don't deserve anything. You don't deserve to be even caged up like an animal.' I can tell you, and when we first talked, I said, 'I'm not going to go down there. I have a business to run. I'm productive in society. We're out doing well.'

Q: You live up in Tennessee.

A: I live in Franklin, Tennessee. I teach my kids accountability. I teach my scouts accountability. We're all accountable for our actions. Not just because my mother is here, because it's the death penalty, and not

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