IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAY LAMAR JOHNSTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-496 L.T. No. CR99-11338 DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 katherine.blanco@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Armstrong claims that the expert testimony should be allowed because Dr. Cole is not challenging the admissibility of the State's fingerprint evidence, but only the weight a juror should give the evidence. We cannot agree. Notwithstanding his best efforts to the contrary, Dr. Cole's "informed hypothesis" is nothing more than a creative attempt to attack the predicate for the admission of latent fingerprint comparison analysis. [FN3]

FN3. Dr. Cole admits that no court has excluded fingerprint evidence based on his proffered testimony, despite repeated attempts.

For over a hundred years, fingerprint comparison has been accepted as reliable by every court in the nation and in many courts abroad for the purpose of identification. In Florida, fingerprint evidence has been admissible in criminal prosecutions since at least 1930. See Martin v. State, 100 Fla. 16, 129 So. 112, 116 (1930) ("Experience of recent years has shown that one of the most effective means of identifying and apprehending burglars, robbers, and thieves is through bureaus of identification by using the photograph and finger print. This method should be encouraged so long as its application does not result in a miscarriage of justice or violate fundamental rules of evidence."). To date, there have been no reported instances in which the prints from any two fingers or from two individuals have been found to be the same.

Of late, a spate of challenges to the reliability of fingerprint identification has been brought, primarily in the federal courts, premised on the same

"informed hypothesis" advanced here. Each has been rejected. See, e.g., United States v. Abreu, 406 F. 3d 1304, 1307 (11th Cir. 2005)(agreeing with the decisions federal circuits other and holding fingerprint evidence reliable); United States Mitchell, 365 F. 3d 215, 246 (3d Cir. 2004)(holding latent fingerprint identification evidence reliable and admissible under Daubert V . Merrell Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2786, 125 L.Ed.2d 469 (1993) [FN4]; United States v. Janis, 387 F. 3d 682, 690 (8th Cir. 2004)(finding fingerprint evidence to be reliable); United States v. Crisp, 324 F. 3d 261, 269-270 (4th Cir. 2003)(holding fingerprint analysis to be reliable identification evidence); United States v. Havvard, 260 F.3d 597, 601-02 (7th Cir.2001) (finding fingerprint identification to be reliable); United States v. Sherwood, 98 F. 3d 402, 408 (9th Cir. 1996)(holding that the trial court did not commit actual error in admitting fingerprint evidence).

[FN4] See Abreu, 406 F.3d at 1306 (noting that "[t]o assess the reliability of an expert opinion, [Federal courts] consider[] a number of factors, including those listed by the Supreme Court in Daubert ").

These cases, although decided in the context of a defendant's motion to preclude fingerprint identification testimony, confirm that any lack of proof that fingerprints are unique, and the existence of objective standards for defining how much of fingerprint is necessary to conduct comparison, is irrelevant. Hence, what Dr. Cole cannot do in challenging the admissibility of the State's fingerprint evidence, he equally cannot do here in purportedly challenging the weight of said evidence. Rather, if Armstrong wishes to question the State's comparison of his fingerprints with latent fingerprints recovered from the crime scene, Armstrong present the jury with his own fingerprint examiner who performed an independent latent fingerprint analysis.

Armstrong, 920 So. 2d at 770-772 (e.s.)

This Court subsequently declined to exercise discretionary

jurisdiction to review the Third District Court's decision. Armstrong v. State, 945 So. 2d 1289 (Fla. 2006) (table). Accordingly, inasmuch as Johnston cannot show that Dr. Cole's testimony even would have been admissible at trial, any IAC/guilt phase claim necessarily fails.

Failure to Object to Tom Jones' Testimony

Johnston raised this issue as sub-claim 1 of Issue X in his Motion to Vacate, which the trial court denied as follows,

In his first sub claim, Defendant contends trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object when the State asked its fingerprint expert, Mr. Jones, a question redirect hypothetical on examination concerning how long a fingerprint could remain on an object after being subjected to multiple touches. Defendant avers the fingerprint expert's response was based on common knowledge rather than expert opinion, and because the defense had previously received a favorable ruling on this issue, trial counsel should have objected. Defendant alleges that this failure to object was not based on trial strategy, and he was prejudiced by counsel's alleged deficient performance. However, the Court finds that the question Defendant is now objecting to is not the same question to which the expert responded as involving common sense.

On direct examination, the State asked Mr. Jones the following question:

Assume that the sole resident occupying the house from which that fingerprint was lifted from the tub faucet was described as a neat freak who bathed on a daily basis. Do you have an opinion as to the likelihood that the latent print that has been preserved as State's Exhibit Number 27-A would remain in a condition suitable for comparison purposes for three weeks or more?

($\underline{\text{See}}$ October 4, 2000 transcript, pp. 688-89). The defense objected arguing the question invited an

opinion that was not within the realm of Mr. Jones' expertise and a bench discussion ensued. The jury was taken out of the court room and Mr. Jones ultimately admitted that his opinion, that it is highly unlikely a print would remain in a condition suitable for comparison purposes for three weeks or more, was based on common sense rather than science.

On redirect examination, the State asked Mr. Jones the following question: "If Mr. Littman was to touch that shiny water pitcher there and leave a fingerprint and you were to touch it in the same place repeatedly for an extended period of time, would you expect Mr. Littman's fingerprint to remain in a suitable for comparison purposes status?" (See October 4, 2000 transcript p. 718).

In his present Motion, Defendant claims that this second question is identical to the question Mr. Jones was asked on direct examination, and that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object on the grounds that the State was again asking Mr. Jones for an opinion that was not scientifically based. Defendant has failed to allege any specific facts demonstrating that the question asked on redirect invites an opinion based on common sense rather than science. The Court finds the two questions are not identical as Defendant asserts, and therefore trial counsel cannot be deemed deficient for failing to object on the basis that the court had already ruled the question was not allowed.

Moreover, "[o]ne of the objectives of redirect examination is to explain, correct, or modify the testimony gathered from cross-examination." Jones v. State, 440 So. 2d 570, 576 (Fla. 1983). On cross-examination, the defense elicited testimony from Mr. Jones that the age of a fingerprint cannot be determined scientifically and "certain things such as hard, shiny metal, such as a bathtub faucet or know, or a plastic item might be more amenable to receiving latents." (See October 4, 2000, transcript, pp. 7 14-15). Defense counsel further asked:

Littman: Would you agree with me, Mr. Jones, it's possible for two persons to touch the very same object even at the same time and one of them to

leave behind an identifiable latent fingerprint and the other person not?

Jones: Then you would have an overlay.

Littman: I'm sorry if my question was unclear. I didn't necessarily mean the same exact spot on that object. For example, if you look to the left, the judge's water pitcher is a shiny silver pitcher. If you were to grasp one side of it and I grasped the other side at the same time without our fingers touching and overlaying, one of us might leave fingerprints and one of us might not. Would you agree?

Jones: That's possible.

(See October 4, 2000, transcript, pp. 717-18).

The State's redirect question, which forms the basis of this claim, helps to explain Mr. Jones' response on cross-examination that there would be an overlay of fingerprints if two persons touched the same object at the same time. The State's redirect question also helps to clarify the earlier cross-examination testimony by explaining that while the age of a fingerprint cannot be scientifically determined and that certain things, such as hard shiny objects, might be more amenable to receiving latent prints, other factors may also affect whether a print would remain in a suitable for comparison purposes state. For instance, if one person touched a shiny, hard object and a second person touched the same object "in the same place repeatedly for an extended period of time," it would not be expected that the first fingerprint would remain in a suitable for comparison purposes status. State's question comports with the purpose of redirect examination and is not identical to its prior direct examination which question drew the sustained objection. Accordingly, it said cannot be that counsel's failure to object fell below "the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. The Court further finds that Defendant has establish prejudice because failed he has to not alleged or demonstrated that the court would have

sustained such a defense objection had one been made. As such, sub claim one of Claim X is denied.

(PCR V9/1604-1607, e.s.)

Johnston has not, and cannot, overcome the trial court's dispositive factual determinations that (1) "the State's question comports with the purpose of redirect examination and is not identical to its prior direct examination question which drew the sustained objection," and (2) Johnston has "not alleged or demonstrated that the court would have sustained such a defense objection had one been made." (PCR V9/1607). Accordingly, Johnston failed to establish any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice under Strickland.

Fingerprint Evidence - Alleged Break in Chain of Custody:

This issue was raised as sub-claim 7 of issue X in Johnston's Motion to Vacate. On appeal, Johnston sets forth a single paragraph alleging that there was a break in the chain of custody on the fingerprint evidence. (Initial Brief of Appellant at 95). The trial court's detailed ruling (PCR V9/1621-1625) should be affirmed for the following reasons. First, any "chain of custody" claim should have been raised on direct appeal and, therefore, is procedurally barred in post-conviction. See, Floyd v. State, 850 So. 2d 383 (Fla. 2002). Second, Johnston's perfunctory argument on appeal is insufficient under Duest. Third, Johnston's argument (Initial Brief of Appellant at 95),

does not assert any IAC/quilt phase claim based on an alleged failure to challenge the chain of custody; therefore, any IAC claim is procedurally barred. Fourth, any IAC claim below was facially insufficient inasmuch as Johnston failed to allege that but for trial counsel's failure to object, the result of the proceeding would have been different. See, Blackwood v. State, 946 So. 2d 960, 970-71 (Fla. 2006). Fifth, Johnston's bare allegation of a break in the chain of custody is insufficient to render relevant physical evidence inadmissible. See, Floyd, 850 So. 2d at 399. Sixth, Johnston cannot overcome the trial court's dispositive factual determination that, "Ms. Mcllwaine's evidentiary hearing testimony is credible and consistent with her trial testimony. There is no indication that shoe print lifts or latent fingerprints were stored in her car for three days, and Ms. Mcllwaine specifically testified that she never left any evidence in her car overnight." (PCR V9/1625). This claim is procedurally barred and without merit.

DNA Evidence - Denial of Request for CODIS Submission:

At trial, the defense, and the jury, knew that an unidentified DNA profile was obtained from a blood spot found on a table in the victim's home; the spot was discovered seven months after the victim's murder and after the home had been returned to the victim's family. Johnston's guilt phase counsel, Mr. Littman, testified in post-conviction that he felt the blood

from the table was meaningless because it was not discovered until months after the house was returned to the care of the victim's family and there was no proof that the blood was there at the time of the murder. In denying post-conviction relief, the trial court found that Johnston "failed to establish that the blood sample was capable of submission to CODIS at the time of trial. Post-conviction counsel admitted at the evidentiary hearing that he did not have any witnesses who could testify that the blood sample could have been submitted to CODIS at the time of trial for the purpose of determining whether it matched a known convicted felon." (PCR V9/1615). In light of this failure of proof and concession, this IAC claim was correctly denied. 5

Furthermore, the trial court's fact-specific ruling denying Johnston's IAC/guilt phase claim (PCR V9/1617-1618) is unchallenged on appeal. In post-conviction, Mr. Littman confirmed that he felt the blood spot was meaningless because it was not discovered until months after the house was returned to the victim's family and there was no proof that the blood was there at the time of the murder. Further, at trial Mr. Littman presented this unidentified blood evidence through his cross-examination of Ms. Suddeth and argued it to the jury in closing.

⁵CCRC argues that there should be no dispute that the DNA "could" have been submitted to CODIS. (*Initial Brief* at 97). This was disputed below (because unlike "STR" typing, the profile was "PCR" DNA, which was not capable of being uploaded to CODIS at

Accordingly, Johnston failed to establish any deficiency of counsel and prejudice under Strickland. Essentially, CCRC, who failed to establish that the DNA profile was capable of submission to CODIS at trial, now seeks an order compelling FDLE, who was not a party below, to submit an unidentified DNA profile, unconnected to the putative perpetrator (if available for STR typing), into the CODIS databank, without first adhering to the rules, regulations and guidelines which establish uniform criteria for CODIS submission. CCRC's demand - essentially a request for mandamus relief against FDLE - is procedurally barred. It is also a "red herring" inasmuch as the unidentified DNA could not qualify as "newly discovered" evidence and fails to "give rise to a reasonable probability of acquittal or a lesser sentence." See, Hitchcock v. State, 991 So. 2d 337, 348 (Fla. 2008); Sireci v. State, 773 So. 2d 34 (Fla. 2000); King v. State, 808 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 2002).

ISSUE IX

CUMULATIVE ERROR

This issue is procedurally barred. Johnston's "cumulative error" claim is based, entirely, on a single sentence which summarily asserts some unidentified errors "individually and cumulatively in the lower court." (Initial Brief of Appellant at

page 97). CCRC's perfunctory one-sentence complaint is insufficient to fairly present any issue on appeal; therefore, this claim is waived for appellate review. See, *Pagan v. State*, 2009 WL 3126337, 13 (Fla. 2009), citing *Duest v. Dugger*, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990). Furthermore, as this Court reiterated in *Bradley v. State*, 2010 WL 26522 (Fla. 2010):

Where, as here, the alleged errors urged for consideration in a cumulative error analysis "are either meritless, procedurally barred, or do not meet the Strickland standard for ineffective assistance of counsel[,] ... the contention of cumulative error is similarly without merit." Israel v. State, 985 So. 2d 510, 520 (Fla. 2008); see also Lowe v. State, 2 So. 3d 21, 33 (Fla. 2008) (holding that where individual claims are either procedurally barred or without merit, the cumulative error claim must fail); Parker v. State, 904 So. 2d 370, 380 (Fla. 2005) (same). Bradley has failed to provide this Court with any basis for relief in any of his postconviction claims. Therefore, the cumulative error claim is without merit.

Bradley, 2010 WL 26522 (e.s.)

Johnston's perfunctory claim of cumulative error is waived under *Duest*; and, even if adequately presented on appeal, must fail under *Bradley*.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, arguments and citations of authority, this Court should AFFIRM the trial court's order denying Johnston's Rule 3.851 motion to vacate.